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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA
ROCK HILL DIVISION
J&J Sports Productions, Inc., ) C/A No.: 0:16-cv-01117-MBS
Plaintiff,

_VS_

~— e —

Steven Dante Drakeford d/b/a Steve’s Lounge ) ORDER AND OPINION
Bar & Grill, and Styron Drakeford d/b/a )
Steve’s Lounge Bar & Grill, )

)

)

Defendants.

)

On April 11, 2016 Plaintiff J & J SportsProductionsinc. (“J & J Sports”),filed anaction

in this courtagainstDefendantsSteven Dante Drakeford and Styron Drakefoallectivelydoing
businesss Steve’sLounge Bar & Grill(*Steve’s Lounge Bar & Gril). Plaintiff allegesthat it
owned theexclusive television distribution rights for a boxing match, and that Defendants
exhibited the fight at a commercialestablishmenwithout payinga licensingfee to Plaintiff.
Plaintiff hasassertectlaims under theCommunicationsAct, 47 U.S.C. § 605and the Cable
Communication$olicyAct, 47U.S.C. § 553aswell asastatelaw claimfor conversionNeither
Defendantfiled an answeror otherwise respondédPlaintiff’'s complaint. OnMay 11, 2016in
responséo Plaintiff's request,theclerk enteredlefault ago bothDefendantsOn May 26, 2016
Plaintiff filed amotionfor defaultjudgment.
FACTS

Thefollowing factsareallegedn Plaintiff’'s complain{ ECFNo. 1), anddueto Defendants’

default,areaccepted atrue: DefendantSteven Dante Drakeford Steven”)is a South Carolina

citizendoing businesSteve’s Lounge Bar & Grilk Grill. 1d. at 2. DefendantStyron Drakeford
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(“Styror?) is the owner,chief executive,member,principal, alter ego, manageragent,and/or
representativef Steve’s Lounge Bar & Grilld. Defendanthiaddominion, supervisory control,
oversightand managemenauthorityovertheSteve’s Lounge Bar & Grilld. at3. J & J Sports
Productionsinc.,aCalifornia corporation,purchasedhe exclusivetelevisiondistribution rights
to “Manny Pacquio v. Timothy Bradley, Il WBO Welterweight Championship HrRybgrami
(“Championshigright”), which took placeon April 12, 2014 Id. at 3. Defendants, dheir agents,
unlawfully interceptedyeceivedpublished, divulgedandexhibitedthe Championshipightatthe
time of its transmissiorwith full knowledgethat theywere unauthorizedo do so.ld. at 4. This
interceptionwas donewillfully andfor the purposes @lommerciabdvantagerfinancialgain.id.
StevemandStyron were present duringnd participated in this misconduict.

The following facts are set out in a sworn affidavit by private investigatorCarolyn D.
Harding (ECF No. 94): Carolyn D. Hardingventto Steve’s Lounge Bar & Grilbn April 12,
2014,andobservedhat the Championshifight was being shown orthreetelevisions.ld. She
stateghatthe approximateapaciy of the establishmerg150customersut she observed maore
than25customersatagiventime.ld. Accordingto aswornaffidavit by Plaintiff's president, Joseph
Gagliardi,basedon acapacityof 101 to 200personsit would havecost$3,200.0(qlicense feejor
Steve’s Lounge Bar & Gril& Grill to purchase theghtsto exhibit the Championshigight. ECF
No. 9-3 at 3 & 10.

According to the private investigator’s affidavit, she paid a $5.00 cover charge lthefig
the broadcast.

DISCUSSION

A.  Liability



Under47U.S.C.8 605(a);'no persorreceiving. . .anyinterstateor foreigncommunication
by wire or radio shall divulge or publish thexistencecontents substancepurport, effect, or
meaninghereof.exceptthrough authorizedhannelf transmissioror reception . .to anyperson
otherthantheaddressedisagentorattorney.” Any persoraggrievedy suchaviolationmaybring
acivil actionto obtainaninjunctionandto recoverdamages;osts andattorneyfees. 47 U.S.C. §
605(e)(3). Theaggrievedpartymayrecover actuallamage®r statutorydamagedetween $1,000
and$10,000or eachviolation. 47 U.S.C. §05(e)(3)(C)(i).Furthermoreif thecourt findghat“the
violation wascommittedwillfully andfor purposesof director indirect commercialadvantageor
private financialain,” the court mayincrease theamage$®y anamount notmore thar100,000
for each violation. 47 U.S.C. 8§ 605(e)(3)(C)(ii).

Under 47 U.S.C. § 553(a)(X)n]o persorshallinterceptor receiveor assisin intercepting
orreceivinganycommunicationserviceofferedoveracablesystemunlesspecificallyauthorized
to do soby a cableoperator oasmay otherwise bepecificallyauthorizedoy law.” 47 U.S.C. §
553(a)(1).Any persoraggrievedy suchaviolation maybring acivil actionto obtainaninjunction
andto recoverdamagescosts,and attorneyfees.47 U.S.C. § 553(c)The aggrievedparty may
recoveractualdamage®r statutorydamage®etweerts250and$10,000for all violationsinvolved
in theaction. 47 U.S.C. 8 553(c})(A). Furthermorejf the court findghat “the violation was
committedwillfully andfor purposes afommerciabdvantager privatefinancialgain,” the court
mayincrease theamage®y an amount not more than $50,000¢ U.S.C. $53(c)(3)(B).

The SeventhCircuit hasheldthat§ 605and 8§ 553employmutually exclusivecategories,
specifically that a “communicationsservice offered over a cable system” is not a “radio

communication.”United States. Norris, 88 F.3d 462469(7thCir. 1996). In otherwords,aperson
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who stealscableservicesat thepoint of deliveryis liable only under § 553gvenif thesignalswere
transmittedby radioatsomeearlierpoint. Onthe other hand, the Seco@dcuit hasdisagreecnd
held that somecable transmissiongnay also constitute“radio communications” under § 605.
International Cablevisiorinc.v. Sykes75F.3d123,133(2d Cir. 1996). TheFourthCircuit hasnot
consideredhe question, but consistesith other courtén theDistrict of SouthCarolinathis court
finds that the reasoning oNorris to be more persuasive SeeColumbia CableTV Co., Inc. v.
McCary, 954F. Supp. 124 (D.S.C. 1996).

As a result, Defendants are liable under § 605 hrilyeyexhibitedradiocommunications
without authorizatiorandliable under 8§ 552nly if theyreceivedcablecommunicationsvithout
authorization Plaintiff admitsthatit hasnot determinechow Defendantseceivedthe Program,
whethetthroughradioor cable butarguegshatthereis nowayto makesucha determinatiowithout
the benefitof discovery.ECFNo. 9-1 at 4. Havingbeendeniedthe benefitof discovery,Plaintiff
requests$o proceedinder 8 605d. Thecourt findghisto be areasonablsolution. Thecourt finds
that Defendants violated 4@.S.C. 8 605 by exhibiting interstateradio communicationsvithout
authorizatiorto customersit acommerciakstablishmentFurthermorebasedon Plaintiff's well-
pleadedhllegationsthe court findgshattheviolation wascommittedwillfully andfor the purposes
of commercial advantage financialgain.

Plaintiff alsoseekslamage®asedn atort theoryof conversion.However recoveryunder
both § 605ndthetort of conversion wouldesultin animpermissibledoublerecoveryfor thesame
loss. See,e.qg., J & J Sports Prodinc. v. J.R.’Z Neighborhood Sport&rille, Inc., 2010WL
1838432at*2 (D.S.C.Apr. 5, 2010). BecauséPlaintiff hasindicatedits choiceto proceedunder
8 605 and to not pursue the conversion claim, the court will addaessge®nly under § 605.
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B. Damages

Plaintiff electsto recoverstatutorydamagesinder 47 U.S.C. §05(e)(3)(C)(i)(Il). Plaintiff
seeksanawardof $10,000, thenaximumauthorizedamount.As explainedabove, itwould have
cost $3,200for Defendantdo purchase theights to exhibit the Championshigright at Steve’s
Lounge Bar & Grill Especially in light of the fact that the Defendants imposealvar chargeit
is quite clear that Defendants’ violations were intentional and willful, and the agrees that
more than nominal damages should be awarded to deter future viol&tiereourt finds that an
awardof $6,400 (double the license fef@)rly approximatesheactualharmto Plaintiff resulting
from Defendantsunauthorized exhibition of tiérogram.

Plaintiff also seeksenhanceddamagesunder 47 U.S.C. 805(e)(3)(C)(ii) because
DefendantsViolation wascommittedwillfully andfor the purposes afommercialadvantager
financialgain. Plaintiff request$100,000, thenaximumauthorizecamount. Plaintiff argueghat
it losesmuchrevenuedueto unauthorizedcommercialexhibition of its boxingprogramshecause
legitimatebarsandrestaurantsannotaffordto competewith “pirate” barsandrestaurantsPlaintiff
explainsthatdueto the significantostsof purchasingts programs|egitimatebarsandrestaurants
typically mustchargeacoverfeeor otherwiseaisefoodanddrink priceswhentheyareshowing the
programs.Plaintiff argueghatpiratebarsandrestaurantgainacompetitiveadvantagéecaus¢hey
are able to show theprogramswithout chargingcover feesor raising prices.Plaintiff further
contendsthat requiring the violatoto pay only whatit would havecostto licensethe program
originally does nothindo detersuchviolations, particularlywhenthereis a chanceof avoiding
detection.

Thecourtagreeshatanenhanceawardis necessaro deterthewillful piracyof Plaintiff's
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programs.While the court does not approve the maximum of statutory enhatzredgesit
concludeghatenhancedlamagesn the amount ofhreetimesthe statutorydamagespr $19,200,
providesjust andadequateleterrencdor suchwillful violations. Accordingly, the court awards

total damagesn the amount of $25,600.

C. Costsand Attorney Fees

Thecourt“shall directtherecoveryof full costs,includingawardingreasonablattorneys’
feesto an aggrievedparty who prevails.” 47 U.S.C. $05(e)(3)(B)(ii)). BecausePlaintiff is an
aggrievegartythathasprevailedjt is entitledto recovercostsandattorneyees.Plaintiff submitted
anaffidavitfromits South Carolina counsiel support ofts requestor costsandattorneyfees.ECF
No. 126; ECFNo. 127. The courgrantscosts to Plaintiff in the amount 06$0.00, including
filing fees and process service costs.

In this defaultmatter,no one hasappearedo challengethe attorneyeesPlaintiff seeks.
Nonethelessin determiningwhat constitutesa reasonablenumber of hourandthe appropriate
hourlyratesthecourt must consider thellowing factors: (1) thetimeandlabor expended?) the
noveltyanddifficulty of the questionsaised;(3) the skill requiredto properlyperformthelegal
servicesrenderedj4) the attorney’s opportunitgostsin pressing the instaritigation; (5) the
customaryeefor like work; (6) theattorney'sexpectationattheoutsebf thelitigation; (7) thetime
limitations imposedby theclient or circumstances8) the amountn controversyandtheresults
obtained[9) theexperiencereputatiorandability of the attorney; (10) thendesirabilityof thecase
within thelegal communityin which the suit arose;(11) the natureandlength of the professional
relationshippetweerattorneyandclient;and(12) attorneyeesawardedn similarcases.Barberv.
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Kimbrell's, Inc., 577F.2d216,226 (4th Cir. 1978). Althoughthe courtmustconsideall twelve of
the factors, the court is not requiredidly applythese factors, asotall mayaffectthefee ina
given case.”[T]hese factors should be consideredin determiningthe reasonableate and the
reasonabléours,which arethenmultiplied to determinethelodestarfigure which will normally
reflect a reasonabldee.” E.E.O.C.v. ServoNewsCo., 898 F.2d 958, 965 (4th Cir. 1990). In
determiningwhether arateis reasonablethe courtis to consider‘prevailing marketratesin the
relevantcommunity.” RumCreekCoal Sales|nc. v. Caperton 31F.3d 169, 1754th Cir. 1994)
(quotingBlum v. Stensql65 U.S. 886, 895 (1984)).

Theinformation Plaintiffprovided,coupledwith the court’'sknowledgeof ratesin work of
thistypein thisdistrict,supports attorneyfeesn the amounof $1,359.75Basedn thenformation
andsupportinglocumentdeforethecourtatthistime,thecourt concludethatthe judgmenagainst
Defendants shoulidicludeanawardof costsandattorneyfeesin theamountof $1,869.75$510.00
costs plus $1,359.75 attorniees).

CONCL USION

Plaintiff's motionfor defauljudgmenis granted.ThecourtfindsthatDefendantsvillfully
violated47U.S.C.8 605. Judgment in favor Bflaintiff is enteredagainstDefendantsjointly and
severally,in the amount of $27,469.76pmprising$25,600in damagesand $1,869.75n costs
and attorneyfees.

IT ISORDERED.

s/ Margaret B. Seymour

Margaret B. Seymour
Senior United States District Judge

Columbia, South Carolina
September 21, 2016
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